IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA,

Appellant,

vs.

JAMES WALTER
DEGRAFFENREID III,
DUWARD JAMES HINDLE
III, JESSE REED LAW,
MICAHEL JAMES
MCDONALD, SHAWN
MICHAEL MEEHAN, EILEEN
A. RICE,

Respondents.

CASE NO. 89064

Dist. Court No.

C-23-379122-1

C-23-379122-2

C-23-379122-3

C-23-379122-4

C-23-379122-5

C-23-379122-6

Electronically Filed
Sep 04 2024 02:24 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

**APPELLANT STATE OF
NEVADA'S OPENING BRIEF**

AARON D. FORD
Attorney General
JEFFREY M. CONNER
Chief Deputy Solicitor General
Nevada Bar No. 11543
Office of the Nevada Attorney General
100 N. Carson St.
Carson City, NV 89701
775-684-1136
jconner@ag.nv.gov

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under NRS 177.015(1)(b), because it presents a challenge to a district court order granting a motion to dismiss an indictment. The district court issued its written order on July 26, 2024, and the State filed its notices of appeal the same day. 3-APP-0657–0687

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(2)(A) and NRAP 17(b)(11). But the Supreme Court should retain this case under NRAP 17(a)(11) and NRAP 17(a)(12) because the case presents issues that are matters of first impression and of “statewide public importance,” including novel questions of statutory construction involving NRS 171.030, NRS 205.110, and NRS 239.330.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

(1) Under the plain language of NRS 171.030, does the presentation of evidence that the Defendants mailed a forged instrument to the Chief Judge of United State District Court for the District of Nevada in Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada establish venue in Clark County for the crime of uttering a forged instrument?

(2) Under the plain language of NRS 171.030, does the presentation of evidence establishing that the Defendants mailed a false or forged instrument to the United States District Court for the District of Nevada in Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada, establish venue in Clark County for the crime of offering false instrument for filing or recording?

(3) Under the plain language of NRS 171.030, does the presentation of evidence that then Secretary of State Barbara Cegavske was in Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada when she learned about the contents of instruments the Defendants mailed to the Secretary of State's office in Carson City, Nevada establish venue in Clark County for the crime of uttering a forged instrument and the crime of offering a false instrument for filing or recording?

(4) Assuming the State failed to present sufficient evidence of venue to sustain the indictment, whether any such error is harmless because the record before the district court shows that the State will be able to prove venue at trial.

* * *

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The 2020 Presidential Election in Nevada.

Joseph R. Biden for President of the United States and Kamala D. Harris for Vice President of the United States received the highest number of votes in the State of Nevada. *Law v. Whitmer*, 136 Nev. 800, 477 P.3d 1124, 2020 WL 7240299, at *2 (2020) (unpublished table disposition).¹ Two weeks after the election, the GOP Electors filed a Statement of Contest in the First Judicial District Court, challenging the result of the Presidential Election in Nevada. *Id.* at *1. The Statement sought an order “declaring President Donald Trump the winner in Nevada and certifying [the GOP Electors] as the State’s duly elected presidential electors.” *Id.* at 2. In the alternative, the Statement requested an order declaring the election result “‘null and void’ and that the November 3 election ‘be annulled and that no candidate for elector for the office of President of the United States of America be certified from the State of Nevada.’” *Id.*

¹ Pin citations to *Law* are citations to the pagination on Westlaw.

On December 2, 2020, the district court conducted an evidentiary hearing, allowing each party to present evidence. *Law*, 2020 WL 7240299, at *1. The next day, the district court heard arguments. *Id.* And the day after that, the district court dismissed the case. *Id.* at **1-21.

The GOP Electors appealed on December 7, 2020. *Id.* at *1. The same day, this Court ordered expedited briefing with specific directions for the GOP Electors “to identify by page and paragraph number the specific portions of the district court order they contest.” *Id.* The parties filed their briefs. *Id.* And this Court issued an order affirming the district court’s order and directing the clerk of court to “issue the remittitur forthwith” on December 8, 2020. *Id.* at **1-2.

The Nevada Secretary of State then moved forward with planning the meeting of the Electoral College for Nevada’s Democratic Party electors. 1-APP-0170–0171. Secretary Barbara Cegavske presided over the meeting on the morning of December 14, 2020. 1-APP-0171–0172.

After the meeting concluded, Deputy Secretary of State for Elections Mark Wlaschin and his staff compiled the Certificate of Ascertainment, the Certificate of Vote, and the Certificate of Final Determination of Contests concerning Presidential Electors. 1-APP-0161,

0172–0175. And they sent copies of each document to the Nevada Secretary of State, Chief Judge of the U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada, the Archivist of the United States, and the President of the U.S. Senate. 1-APP-0176. The genuine Certificate of Vote contained Nevada’s state seal, the Democratic Party’s electors signed the Certificate of Vote, and their signatures matched the names on the Certificate of Ascertainment. 1-APP-0174–0175, 4-APP-0858.

II. With assistance from the Trump Campaign, the GOP Electors forge false Electoral College documents, conduct a fake signing ceremony, and mail the documents to various locations.

James Troupis contacted Kenneth Chesebro around November 10, 2020, and asked Chesebro to do some legal work related to challenges to election results in Wisconsin. 1-APP-0058–0059. Chesebro drafted various memoranda on behalf of the Trump Campaign, including a memorandum dated November 18, 2020, that suggested Trump electors would need to cast ballots by December 14, 2020, to comply with federal statutes, if the Wisconsin challenges succeeded. 1-APP-0060–0061; 5-APP-1042–1043.

Chesebro also drafted a memorandum addressing federal and state law elections standards for states where litigation over the election remained ongoing. 1-APP-0061-0063; 5-APP-1049–1053. And he drafted voting documents—based on Wisconsin’s documents—for electors in other states to use as a modifiable template for use in the electors’ respective states. 1-APP-0064–0065. And after he contacted James DeGraffenreid, Michael McDonald, and Jesse Law, Chesebro shared copies of those documents with DeGraffenreid. 1-APP-0065-0066; 5-APP-1055–1057,

When communicating with DeGraffenreid, Chesebro inquired about whether litigation was still pending in Nevada—in Chesebro’s view, the existence of pending litigation was the only reason to cast alternate elector votes. 1-APP-0066. But he testified that never received an answer to his question—DeGraffenreid redirected him to the GOP Electors’ lawyer Jesse Binnall, but DeGraffenreid did not otherwise answer Chesebro’s question. 1-APP-0066, 5-APP-1055.

DeGraffenreid circulated the documents received from Chesebro to each of the GOP Electors on December 13, 2020. 5-APP-1060. And the documents, which were titled “CERTIFICATE OF THE VOTES OF THE

2020 ELECTORS FROM NEVADA,” included declarations from the GOP Electors that they were “the duly elected and qualified Electors for President and Vice President of the United States of America from the State of Nevada.” 4-APP-0837, 0845, 0909, 0918.

The next day, coming from various parts of Nevada, the GOP Electors convened in Carson City, Nevada where they executed the documents and broadcast their meeting via Right Side Broadcasting. 1-APP-0041–0042; 4-APP-0879, 0882, 0885, 0888, 0891, 0894.² Representatives from Right Side Broadcasting travelled to Nevada from Washington D.C. to provide live coverage of the event. 5-APP-0865 (video timestamp 00:25–1:00). In response to a subpoena, Right Side Broadcasting produced two videos, one edited version totaling 38 minutes, 46 second in length, and one raw footage that was a little over an hour in length, which depicted “the six Nevada Republican nominee electors executing their ballots for the Electoral College election of the

² The State is filing a contemporaneous motion seeking transmission of Grand Jury Exhibit 6A under NRAP 10(b)(2) and NRAP 30(d), which is a flash drive containing a video file of footage received from Right Side Broadcasting. 5-APP-0862–0865.

U.S president and vice president,” in Carson City on December 14, 2020.
1-APP-0042; 4-APP-0863.

After the GOP Electors concluded their fake voting ceremony, DeGraffenried travelled to Minden, Nevada, where he mailed the completed documents by following Chesebro’s instructions “exactly,” and each envelope included a return mailing address of Michael J. McDonald, Nevada Republican Party at 840 S. Rancho Dr. 4-800, Las Vegas Nevada 89106. 1-APP-0026; 4-APP-0856, 0905, 0933–0935; 5-APP-1088–1089, 1105–1106. The documents purporting to cast Nevada’s electoral votes for Donald J. Trump and Michael R. Pence were sent to the following locations by the GOP Electors: (1) Archivist of the United States, 700 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington D.C., 20408; (2) President of the Senate, United States Senate, Washington D.C. 20510; (3) Secretary of State, State of Nevada, 101 N. Carson St., Suite 3, Carson City, Nevada 89701; and (4) Honorable Miranda M. Du, Chief Judge, U.S. District Court, District of Nevada, Lloyd D. George Courthouse, 333 Las Vegas Blvd South, Las Vegas, N.V. 89101. 5-APP-1088–1089.

The Secretary of State received the documents on December 15, 2020. 1-APP-0178–0184. The U.S. District Court received the documents

two days later. 1-APP-0119–0120; 4-APP-0934. The President of the Senate received the documents on December 21, 2020. 1-APP-0142, 4-APP-0934. And the National Archives received the documents the day after that. 1-APP-0021–0022; 4-APP-0934.

III. The grand jury in Clark County returns a true bill, indicting the GOP Electors on one count of Offering a False Instrument for Filing or Recording and one count of Uttering a Forged Instrument: Forgery.

The State presented evidence to the grand jury in Clark County, establishing everything explained above, and more, over a period of three days. 1-APP-0001–0215; 4-APP-0835–0935; 5-APP-0936–1162. After the grand jury returned a true bill and the foreman signed the indictment, the State filed the indictment charging the GOP Electors with one count of Offering a False Instrument for Filing or Recording, and one count of Uttering a Forged Instrument: Forgery. 1-APP-0216–0219.³

IV. Eileen Rice files a motion to dismiss that the other GOP Electors joined by the other GOP Electors, and each of the GOP Electors file pretrial writ petitions.

Eileen Rice filed a motion to dismiss, and the other GOP Electors

³ The Grand Jury Foreman signed the indictment, which had been identified as Grand Jury Exhibit 1A. 1-APP-0036–0037

filed joinders in her motion. 2-APP-0401–0421. The motion challenged the territorial jurisdiction of the Clark County grand jury under *Martinez Guzman v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 136 Nev. 103, 460 P.3d 443 (2020) (*Martinez Guzman I*) and *Martinez Guzman v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 137 Nev. 599, 496 P.3d 572 (2021) (*Martinez Guzman II*). 2-APP-0405–0408. The motion also asserted a violation of the Sixth Amendment’s Vicinage Clause. 2-APP-0408–0409.

Rice, McDonald, and Law also filed pretrial writs and a joint memorandum that (1) challenged venue by incorporating Rice’s motion to dismiss, (2) challenged the State’s evidence on probable cause, and (3) asserted a violation of the duty to present exculpatory evidence. 2-APP-0260–0270, 0305–0400. And the other GOP Electors filed writs and joined the joint memorandum filed by Rice, McDonald, and Law. 2-APP-0248–0265, 0271–0304.

The State filed a return and opposed the motion to dismiss. 2-APP-0422–0465. Responding to the venue arguments, the State argued that venue is proper in Clark County because (1) the offenses were committed in part in Clark County, (2) that “acts . . . requisite to the consummation of the offense” occurred in Clark County, and (3) effects occurred in Clark

County. 2-APP-0431–0432; 0455–0462. And the State further argued that each of the foregoing made Clark County a proper venue under NRS 171.030. 2-APP-0431–0432; 0455–0462. And the State presented additional argument based on phone records for Law and McDonald that the State filed in support of its opposition to the motion to dismiss. 2-APP-0453, 0457.⁴

Rice, McDonald, and Law filed a joint reply, and the other GOP Electors joined. 3-APP-0473–0517. The reply challenged the State’s arguments seeking to establish venue in Clark County, including emphasizing that no uttering occurred in Clark County because court staff at the U.S. District Court in Las Vegas forwarded the envelope addressed to the Chief Judge’s chambers in Reno. 3-APP-0479–0497.

⁴ The district court granted the State’s unopposed motion to file these exhibits under seal. 5-ER-1163. So those exhibits must remain under seal unless otherwise ordered. *See* Rule 7 of the Nevada Rules for Sealing and Redacting Court Records. For that reason, the State has not included those exhibits in the appendix. Instead, the State is filing a contemporaneous motion for transmission of exhibits that includes a request that this Court order transmission of the sealed exhibits to this Court for its consideration of this appeal under NRAP 10(b)(2) and NRAP 30(d).

At a hearing that followed briefing, the district court ordered the State to present a supplement to its opposition that pointed to all the facts that linked the case to Clark County. 3-APP 0585–0592. The State filed the supplement. 3-APP-0620–0625.

V. The district court dismisses the indictment after concluding that Clark County is not a proper venue.

After the State produced the supplement, the district court heard argument on the motion. 3-APP-0627–0656. The GOP Electors went through *Martinez Guzman I* and *Martinez Guzman II* and made their arguments asserting that the State failed to establish venue in Clark County. 3-APP-0631–0642. Among other things, they emphasized (1) this Court’s recognition that venue will lie “where the community has an interest in prosecuting it,” 3-APP-0633; (2) that copies of Electoral College documents are sent to offices required by federal law, not individuals, 3-APP-0636; and (3) repeatedly focused on the view that both crimes occurred in Carson City. 3-APP-0638–0639, 0641–0642.

The State made its own arguments, explaining how the evidence proved venue under NRS 171.030. 3-APP-0642–0653. In the midst of its arguments, commented that the State at best had proven “[p]lan and

preparation.” 3-APP-0650. And the Court reiterated that point when it made its ruling from the bench, stating “I think at most you may have preparation and intent, arguably, but I don’t even think that there’s evidence of that. I think everything took place up north, and either of those two jurisdictions would have been the appropriate ones.” 3-APP-0654.

The district court then issued its written order. 4-APP-0657–0663. The district court concluded that no acts or effects occurred in Clark County and any criminal offenses, “if any occurred, were completed when Defendants delivered the items for mailing at the Minden post office.” 3-APP-0661.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court’s order is plagued by numerous legal errors mandating reversal. The district court had tunnel vision that caused it to focus too heavily on the fanfare of the GOP Electors fake Electoral College ceremony, causing it to read too much into the result in *Martinez Guzman II* and failing to complete the analysis that *Martinez Guzman I* demands.

In *Martinez Guzman I* this Court addressed the power of the grand jury in Nevada. This Court held that NRS 172.105 limits the territorial reach of the grand jury power by concluding that the phrase “territorial jurisdiction” is tied to Nevada’s “statutes governing the proper jurisdiction and venue for criminal prosecutions.” *Martinez Guzman I*, 136 Nev. at 104, 460 P.3d at 445.

For that reason, when a defendant challenges the territorial jurisdiction of a grand jury, *Martinez Guzman I* requires the Court to determine whether the State’s evidence proves venue. Proving venue is a low hurdle, even when accepting the premise that the State has the burden to prove venue by a preponderance of the evidence to the grand jury.⁵ Venue may be proper in more than one county under a statute like

⁵ After *Martinez Guzman I* and *Martinez Guzman II*, what burden rests on the State to prove venue during a grand jury proceeding remains a little murky. Although this Court cited a case identifying a preponderance standard in *Martinez Guzman II*, that case addressed the burden of proof on venue at trial. 137 Nev. at 603, 496 P.3d at 576. Meanwhile, this Court has long defined the State’s burden to sustain an indictment as one of presenting “the slightest sufficient legal evidence” or “even marginal evidence.” See, e.g., *Rugamas v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 129 Nev. 424, 436, 305 P.3d 887, 895 (2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). Admittedly, the State did not press this point below. But unlike

NRS 171.030. But there is no further limit on the territorial reach of the grand jury's power to indict, even if the defendant thinks a different district court would have provided a *better* venue.

In contrast, *Martinez Guzman II* is a narrow decision holding that preparatory acts are, by themselves, insufficient to establish venue under NRS 171.030. 137 Nev. at 608-09, 496 P.3d at 580. That decision does not, however, comprehensively define how the State proves venue under NRS 171.030. Breaking down the plain language of NRS 171.030 shows that the State can prove venue under that statute in multiple ways, only one of which this Court addressed in *Martinez Guzman II*. And the State's grand jury evidence establishes venue under NRS 171.030 in numerous ways, including satisfying the *Martinez Guzman II* test on preparatory acts *plus* intent.

First, the district court erred as a matter of law when it concluded that any offense was complete upon delivery of the imposter documents

the district court (and the GOP Electors), the State is not convinced that this Court, in *Martinez Guzman II*, intended to raise the burden of proof necessary to sustain an indictment. Even so, this Court need not address that issue here because the State's grand jury evidence easily meets the preponderance standard.

to the U.S. Post Office in Douglas County. Consideration of the plain statutory language for each offense—language that appears nowhere in the district court’s order, 3-APP-0657–0662—shows that the material elements of both offenses were committed, at least in part, in Clark County, establishing venue under NRS 171.030. Case law interpreting similar statutes from other states reinforces the State’s position on this point. So too does federal case law that addresses similar crimes.

Second, the district court’s analysis overlooks relevant evidence proving (1) “acts . . . constituting or requisite to the consummation of” both offenses that occurred in Clark County, and (2) “effects thereof” that occurred in Clark County. This Court should reverse and order reinstatement of the indictment.

Finally, even assuming the State failed to prove venue, that shortcoming fails to support outright dismissal on this record. In particular, this Court can—and should—determine that any failure to prove venue was harmless because (1) one of the GOP Electors’ arguments from their reply in support of the motion to dismiss implicitly concedes that the State can establish venue, and (2) the State presented sufficient additional evidence to establish venue with its opposition to the

motion to dismiss. This Court should hold that any shortcoming in the State’s grand jury presentation is harmless and remand for further proceedings.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

This Court reviews “a district court’s decision to grant or deny a motion to dismiss an indictment for abuse of discretion.” *Hill v. State*, 124 Nev. 546, 550, 188 P.3d 51, 54 (2008). Such review is typically deferential to the district court, but “deference is not owed to legal error.” *AA Primo Builders v. Washington*, 126 Nev. 578, 589, 245 P.3d 1190, 1197 (2010). Legal questions—like statutory construction—are reviewed de novo. *See, e.g., Funderburk v. State*, 125 Nev. 260, 163, 212 P.3d 337, 339 (2009).

II. A grand jury in any county that is a proper venue for a criminal trial possesses the power to inquire into the underlying offense.

“The grand jury may inquire into all public offenses triable in the district court or in a Justice Court, committed within the territorial jurisdiction of the district court for which it is impaneled.” NRS 172.105 (emphasis added). The phrase “territorial jurisdiction” is “tied to our existing statutes governing the proper court where a criminal case may

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