IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

STATE OF NEVADA, Appellant

VS.

JAMES WALTER
DEGRAFFENREID III,
DURWARD JAMES HINDLE III,
JESSE REED LAW, MICHAEL
JAMES MCDONALD, SHAWN
MICHAEL MEEHAN, AND EILEEN
A. RICE,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Oct 11 2024 10:53 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO.: 89064

Dist. Ct. Nos.: C-23-379122-1; C-23-379122-2; C-23-379122-3; C-23-379122-4; C-23-379122-5; C-23-

379122-6

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Richard A. Wright WRIGHT MARSH, LEVY

300 S. Fourth St., Ste 701 Las Vegas, NV 89101 Counsel for Michael James McDonald

Brian R. Hardy
MARQUIS AURBACH
10001 Park Run Drive
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Counsel for Durward

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

Here, Defendants' alleged crimes had far fewer connections to Clark County than the defendant's crimes had to Washoe in *Martinez-Guzman II*. The State should not be permitted to solve this fatal problem by endeavoring to have this Court ignore its holdings and NRS 171.030's text.

///

2. The State Must Establish Jurisdiction by a Preponderance of the Evidence Submitted to the Grand Jury, and Bare Speculation and Conjecture Do Not Suffice.

The State claims that its burden "rests on the State to prove venue during a grand jury proceeding remains a little murky" (OB, p.14, n.5) and endeavors to rely on evidence not presented to the grand jury—namely, Mr. McDonald's and Mr. Law's phone records. The State is incorrect—its burden is clear, and the State cannot rely on evidence not presented to the grand jury.

In *McNamara v. State*, 132 Nev. 606, 615-16, 377 P.3d 106, 113 (2016), this Court held that, under NRS 171.020, the State must establish jurisdiction over crimes occurring in another state by a preponderance of the evidence. Then, in *Martinez-Guzman I*, this Court held, in the context of intrastate jurisdictional issues, that a grand jury's "territorial jurisdiction...depends on whether the necessary connections, as identified in Nevada's statutes, to the location of the court exist." 136 Nev. at 110. The *Martinez-Guzman I* Court also made clear that not only was actual evidence required, but also that the evidence relied upon must be submitted to the grand jury. In granting a petition for writ of mandamus challenging the denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of venue and remanding, this Court gave the following clear instructions:

...the district court must determine, based on the evidence presented to the Washoe County grand jury, if venue is proper in the Second

Judicial District Court for the Douglas County charges under the applicable statutes. If so, then the district court has "territorial jurisdiction" over those criminal offenses....

Id. at 111 (emphasis added). Thus, *Martinez-Guzman I* made clear: (1) a grand jury must have territorial jurisdiction when it enters an indictment; (2) to support jurisdiction, the State must come forward with actual evidence; and (3) the evidence that the State relies on must have been presented to the grand jury.¹⁰

Then, following remand, in *Martinez-Guzman II*, this Court further defined the State's burden, holding:

Because venue does not involve an element of the crime or relate to guilt or innocence, the State need only prove venue by a preponderance of the evidence. *Cf. McNamara v. State*, 132 Nev. 606, 615-16, 377 P.3d 106, 113 (2016).

137 Nev. at 603. Thus, whether the State tries to establish venue based on acts and effects requisite to the commission of the crime or by preparatory acts undertaken with intent, the State must do so with evidence submitted to the grand jury and it

does not legally exist and thus it cannot be amended").

jury when it acted. *Cf. Dekker/Perich/Sabatini Ltd. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 137 Nev. 525, 530, 495 P.3d 519, 524 (2021) ("Generally, determining whether a court action is 'void ab initio' involves the underlying authority of a court to act on a matter."); *Washoe Med. Ctr. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 122 Nev. 1298, 1304, 148 P.3d 790, 794 (2006) (recognizing that, when a complaint "is void ab initio, it

¹⁰ Because territorial jurisdiction is a matter of subject matter jurisdiction and goes to whether the grand jury had the authority to indict, the evidence necessarily is limited to what was presented to the grand jury. Further, it of course makes sense that the question of whether the "grand jury exceeded its power" (*Martinez-Guzman I*, 136 Nev. at 110) necessarily turns on the evidence that was presented to the grand

must meet its burden by a preponderance of the evidence.¹¹

This Court has noted that circumstantial evidence might suffice (*id*.) but that bare speculation did not. *Martinez-Guzman II*, at 600 (explaining that this Court had already held in *Martinez-Guzman I* that the State's "theories supporting venue were too speculative and unsupported by the evidence to make venue proper for any of the Douglas County charges"). Thus, this Court has already made clear that whenever a grand jury's territorial jurisdiction is challenged that the State must meet its burden by a preponderance of the evidence, and that speculation alone does not suffice to meet those burdens. These holdings were not limited to when the evidence is limited to preparatory acts and intent. And, as further discussed *infra*, there is no exception to these requirements where the State is concerned about statute of limitations issues.

3. The State Cannot Predicate Jurisdiction on Any Act.

The State argues:

Martinez-Guzman II ... does not provide a comprehensive definition of acts—it only addresses when a defendant's preparatory acts satisfy the

_

¹¹ If anything, the burden should be higher. *See State v. Williams*, 326 Or. App. 64, 84, 530 P.3d 919, 931 (2023) ("... nearly all the state courts that have considered territorial jurisdiction in criminal cases have concluded that, in order to establish the state courts' authority to adjudicate an offense, the state must prove territorial jurisdiction either beyond a reasonable doubt or by a preponderance of the evidence."); *see also State v. Willoughby*, 181 Ariz 530, 536-39, 892 P2d 1319, 1325-26 (1995) (concluding that the majority view requires proof of territorial jurisdiction beyond a reasonable doubt, rather than a preponderance of the evidence, and adopting that rule; collecting cases).

plain language of NRS 171.030. Other "acts . . . requisite to the consummation of the offense" that occur while the offense is in progress also establish venue under the plain language of NRS 171.030.

(OB, p. 20.) It later claims (for the first time on appeal) that acts by third party personnel at the U.S. District Court that led up to the delivery of a certificate to Judge Du—i.e., forwarding it from Las Vegas to Reno—are sufficient to provide jurisdiction. But there is no basis for such a claim. In the parallel context of NRS 171.020, this Court has made clear that the question depends on whether the defendant performs any act in furtherance of criminal intent. *McNamara*, 132 Nev. at 611, 377 P.3d at 110. This supports finding that only the acts of the defendants—rather than third parties—are relevant. *See Martinez-Guzman I*, 136 Nev. at 110 (just as in a case involving interstate offenses, "territorial jurisdiction in a case involving intercounty offenses depends on whether the necessary connections, as identified in Nevada's statutes, to the location of the court exist.").

4. To Establish Jurisdiction through "Effects," the Effects Must Constitute or Be Requisite to the Consummation of the Offense.

While NRS 171.030 does provide for jurisdiction in a county where the "effects" of acts constituting or requisite to the consummation of a crime occur, just like acts, the effects must "constitute[e]" or be "requisite to" "the consummation of the offense." Indeed, the language "constituting or requisite to the consummation of the offense" directly follows "effects thereof." Thus, it is not the case, as the State

urges, that the courts of any county have jurisdiction where any conceivable effects of a crime may be alleged to have occurred. Yet the State's interpretation on the statute on appeal is that

the plain language of the statute suggests that "effects" means the effects of any "acts... constituting or requisite to the consummation of the offense." In other words, the location of such effects is also a proper venue under NRS 171.030

(OB, p. 22.) This interpretation is anything but true to the plain language of the statute; the false idea that the language "constituting or requisite to the consummation of the offense" limits "acts" but not "the effects thereof" is unsupported. Instead of asking the Court to give NRS 171.030 its plain meaning, the State asks the Court to rewrite the statute as follows:

When a public offense is committed in part in one county and in part in another or the acts or effects thereof constituting or requisite to the consummation of the offense or the effects thereof occur in two or more counties, the venue is in either county.

If the Legislature had wanted the statute to say what the State imagines, it would have written the statute differently. As actually written, the phrase "constituting or requisite to the consummation of the offense" follows "acts or effects thereof" and thus limits both "acts" and "effects thereof". Thus, under basic rules of statutory interpretation, the effects referred to are only those effects that constitute or are requisite to the consummation of the offense. *Cf. Barnhart v. Thomas*, 540 U.S. 20, 26, 124 S. Ct. 376, 380 (2003) (citing 2A N. Singer, Sutherland on Statutory

Construction § 47.33, p 369 (6th rev. ed. 2000)) (explaining that the statutory construction rule of the last antecedent means that the phrase should be read as modifying the phrase it immediately follows).

But even if the State were correct that the "constituting or requisite to the consummation of the offense" language does not qualify "effects," it concedes the language limits "acts" and, thus, at best, only effects of acts that "constitute[]" or are "requisite to the consummation of the offense" can establish venue. And there is no effect—and no act—that is requisite to the consummation of the purported crime under either of the offenses at issue that occurred in Clark County.

5. The State Cannot Rely on Out-of-Jurisdiction Acts or Effects by Labeling Them Evidence of a Conspiracy.

The State also endeavors to have this Court ignore its own precedent, arguing that if there is evidence of any act that may be part of a conspiracy, that suffices to establish territorial jurisdiction. ¹² The State's impermissible ¹³ new effort to mask its lack of evidence by relabeling it as evidence of a conspiracy does not save the day

27

The State argues "[t]here is sufficient circumstantial evidence to establish formation of the conspiracy and overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy that occurred in Clark County by a preponderance of the evidence" but goes on to argue it need not show intent, other than by a coordinated series of acts. (OB, p. 39.) Then the State goes on to argue that facts such as the fact that Mr. McDonald and Mr. Law live in Clark County, that emails were sent to them, and that the Contingent Certificate was later executed at a ceremony establish venue (OB, pp. 40-42). As argued *infra*, the State is mistaken on both counts.

¹³ Old Aztec Mine, Inc., 623 P.2d at 983.

and is not a workaround to this Court's mandate in *Martinez-Guzman II* that the State must have both evidence of preparatory acts "plus intent" when the asserted jurisdiction is based on preparation.

Indeed, in *Martinez-Guzman II*, this Court specifically rejected a similar approach to that urged by the State regarding alleged evidence of a conspiracy. This Court explained that in California, the territorial jurisdiction statute "must be given a liberal interpretation to permit trial in a county where only preparatory acts have occurred." Thus, this Court noted, "California has, for example, held that where a defendant was part of a conspiracy to commit a murder and traveled to one county to obtain a gun for subsequent use in committing that murder in another county, venue for the murder was proper in the county where he obtained the gun" and that, "[i]n California, even a 'telephone call for the purpose of planning a crime received within [a] county is an adequate basis for venue, despite the fact the call was originated outside the county..." Further, *Martinez-Guzman II* noted that "California not only allows venue to be based on preparatory acts, but also 'on the

¹⁴ Martinez-Guzman II, 137 Nev. at 604 (citing and quoting People v. Simon, 25 Cal. 4th 1082, 108 Cal. Rptr. 2d 385, 25 P.3d 598, 617 (Cal. 2001)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

¹⁵ Martinez-Guzman II, 137 Nev. at 604 (citing People v. Price, 1 Cal. 4th 324, 3 Cal. Rptr. 2d 106, 821 P.2d 610, 640 (Cal. 1991)).

¹⁶ Martinez-Guzman II, 137 Nev. at 604 (citing and quoting People v. Posey, 32 Cal. 4th 193, 8 Cal. Rptr. 3d 551, 82 P.3d 755, 773 (Cal. 2004)) (internal quotation marks omitted)

effects of preparatory acts,' such as the person in the charging county receiving the defendant's call from another county..."¹⁷ This Court then explicitly rejected the California approach, and adopted the following test instead:

...in Nevada, venue cannot be based on supposedly preparatory acts unless the evidence shows that those acts were undertaken with the intent to commit the charged crime and in furtherance of that crime. Many crimes involve countless acts which lead to the ultimate criminal act being possible. But it is obvious that not every action undertaken by a defendant which puts them in the particular place, time, and circumstances of an offense was done with the intent to commit that offense.

Thus, contrary to the State's efforts to ignore this Court's holdings, if the State relies on preparatory acts—even where a conspiracy is alleged—it must show those acts were undertaken with the necessary intent to commit the charged crime and that they were undertaken in furtherance of that crime.

In any case, conspiracy is a specific intent crime; therefore, the State must prove that each defendant had the intent to agree or conspire and the intent to commit the offense that is the object of the conspiracy. *Washington v. State*, 132 Nev. 655, 664, 376 P.3d 802, 809 (2016). An "agreement among two or more persons is an essential element of the crime of conspiracy, and mere association is insufficient to support a charge of conspiracy." *Sanders v. State*, 110 Nev. 434, 436, 874 P.2d 1239, 1240 (1994). While a coordinated series of acts may be sufficient to establish a

¹⁷ Martinez-Guzman II, 137 Nev. at 604 (quoting and citing People v. Thomas, 53 Cal. 4th 1276, 140 Cal. Rptr. 3d 184, 274 P.3d 1170, 1176 (Cal. 2012)).

conspiracy, again, "mere association is insufficient to support a charge of conspiracy." *Peterson v. Sheriff*, 95 Nev. 522, 598 P.2d 623, 625 (1979) (dismissing conspiracy charge). Thus, for example, even if the State could avoid meeting the standard in *Martinez-Guzman II* by relying on conspiracy evidence, evidence such as merely communicating with other defendants while in Clark County would not suffice.

D. The Court Should Not Be Swayed by Issues Regarding the Statute of Limitations.

This burden does not change where, as here, the State fears it may not be able to refile the charges should it not convince this Court it has territorial jurisdiction. Thus, whether the State will be able to refile the dismissed charges is not relevant to the Court's analysis regarding territorial jurisdiction. Yet, the State all but begs the Court to contort its own case law and ignore the shortcomings in its evidence purporting to establish venue so that it can prosecute Respondents (OB, pp. 49-50).

¹⁸ Further, any issue with refiling charges is a problem of the State's own creation; the State first took the position that existing law did not criminalize the conduct at issue and then, just before the applicable statutes of limitations ran, suddenly sought an indictment in Clark County, a jurisdiction where venue does not lie, on December 6, 2023.

¹⁹ (See, e.g., OB, p. 50 ("the statute of limitations for the charge of offering false instrument for filing or recording is three years under NRS 171.085. So, unless the State can seek reindictment with the support of equitable tolling, any dismissal of that charge is effectively with prejudice. But this Court should deem harmless any shortcoming in the State's evidence on venue before the grand jury because, as

This line of argument is highly improper—this Court should not overrule, limit or misapply NRS 171.030 and precedent just so the State can prosecute Defendants. Further, this Court, as discussed above, has made plain that whether territorial jurisdiction exists is determined by an examination of the evidence presented to the grand jury. The State does not and cannot offer case law to support its proposition to the contrary or that the Court can overlook the State's failure to meet its burden by evidence presented to the grand jury by calling it "harmless error."

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